#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

v.

ANA HERNANDEZ-YANKS

Respondent.

Supreme Court Case No. 86,337

CONNET CI SE 后认 Chief Property Cherk

The Florida Bar's Initial Brief

On Petition for Review

ELENA EVANS Bar Counsel TFB #826359 The Florida Bar 444 Brickell Avenue Suite 211 Miami, Florida 33131 (305) 377-4445 JOHN T. BERRY Staff Counsel TFB #217395 The Florida Bar 650 Apalachee Parkway Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (904) 222-5286 JOHN F. HARKNESS, JR. Executive Director TFB #123390 The Florida Bar 650 Apalachee Parkway Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (904) 222-5286

#

#### STATEMENT OF CASE AND FACTS

On August 24, 1995, Ana Hernandez-Yanks filed a Petition for Reinstatement. The Petitioner had been suspended from the practice of law by a Supreme Court Order dated April 29, 1993. The Petitioner received a one year suspension, pursuant to a consent judgment, for a four count complaint containing violations of the rules governing trust accounting, interference with justice and conduct involving fraud and misrepresentation. The charges arose out of the Respondent's services as an escrow agent for her husband's mortgage brokerage company. Three clients, Charles Friedberg, Church of God in Christ Calvary Church and Pura Castillo filed the initial complaints against the Respondent for failing to return escrow funds. <u>The Florida Bar v.</u> <u>Hernandez-Yanks</u>, Supreme Ct. Case No. 80, 716 (Fla. 1993)

On February 29, 1996, a Referee hearing was held before Judge Murray Goldman. At the Referee hearing, the Petitioner presented four witnesses who testified as to the Petitioner's competency to resume the practice of law. The Petitioner served as a legal secretary and paralegal for the witnesses during her suspension. (T-26,72,93) The Petitioner also testified regarding her desire for reinstatement and her remorse regarding her wrongdoing. (T- 161)

Carlos Ruga, Staff Auditor of the Florida Bar, testified the audit of the Petitioner's joint checking account showed thirty four check were dishonored by the bank in the period between April 16, 1993 and October 13, 1995.(T-103) In addition, the account had overdrafts fifty-four times.(T-103) Although many of the checks were written by the Petitioner's husband, at least seven of the checks were written by the Petitioner. (T-103)

Additionally, the Respondent's competency to practice law was questioned by an expert witness who testified that the Petitioner should have known that the documents in the Castillo transaction were inconsistent and did not transfer fee simple title to the property. (T-131) The expert witness also testified that the Respondent had an obligation to review the documents and explain them to the parties in the transaction. (T-136). According to the expert witness, the Petitioner would need several basic real estate courses to become competent in this area of the law. (T-138).

Finally, the Respondent's character and fitness was challenged by the attorney who represented Calvary Church in the civil action. The attorney stated the Respondent demonstrated disregard for the legal process by her treatment of the litigants and opposing counsel. (T-114, 116) Moreover, the Respondent's lack

of integrity was demonstrated by her presentation of the \$14,000 check as accord and satisfaction and her misrepresentation that the funds were being deposited in the court registry.(T-112, 113)

On March 13, 1996, the Referee issued his Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law which recommended reinstatement with conditions.

The Report of Referee was considered by the Board of Governors at their May, 1996 meeting. The Board of Governors directed the filing of a petition for review and this appeal.

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Referee erroneously recommended reinstatement despite the fact that the Petitioner failed to produce clear and convincing evidence of the essential requirements for reinstatement: (1)Good moral character, personal integrity and general fitness for position of trust and confidence and (2) professional competence and ability.

The Referee erroneously found the Petitioner had presented clear and convincing evidence of unimpeachable character. The Referee improperly disregarded the Petitioner's handling of her joint checking account as character evidence bearing on her fitness to practice law. The Referee ignored the evidence that the Petitioner's checking account had fifty-four overdrafts and thirty-four dishonored checks over a two year period. This Court has held the writing of bad checks, even if eventually made good, is fundamentally dishonest and inconsistent with fitness to practice law.

Furthermore, in her practice before her suspension, the Petitioner demonstrated questionable integrity, exhibited disdain for litigants and fellow practitioners and abused the legal process.

The Referee also improperly ruled that the testimony regarding the Petitioner's presuspension behavior was irrelevant and not probative in these proceedings. This Court has repeatedly stated that a Petitioner's presuspension conduct including the reasons for the original disciplinary proceedings are relevant in reinstatement proceedings and the Referee should compare the Petitioner's prior conduct and present conduct in order to gauge rehabilitation.

The Referee also erred in finding that the Petitioner had presented clear and convincing evidence of a reputation for good professional ability. The majority of the witnesses who testified on the Petitioner's behalf had never worked with the Petitioner as an attorney and could not evaluate her professional competence. Furthermore, the record was replete with evidence regarding the Petitioner's incompetency in the areas of real property transactions and trust accounting.

The Referee also erroneously disregarded the evidence that the Petitioner had failed to take any steps to address the competency problems which led to her suspension. The evidence was uncontroverted that the Petitioner incompetently handled real estate transactions for which she had no background or training to the detriment of the public. Further, the Petitioner did not

present any evidence that she took any steps to rehabilitate herself or to become competent in the areas of trust accounting or real property transactions. This Court has consistently held that where competence is at issue, the Petitioner must demonstrate that she has taken concrete steps to address the issues which led to the suspension.

Accordingly, the Referee's recommendation of reinstatement is erroneous and the Petitioner should not be reinstated to the practice of law until she has taken specific steps to address the competency and character issues which led to her suspension.

#### ARGUMENT

# I. THE REFEREE ERRONEOUSLY HELD THAT THE PETITIONER DEMONSTRATED CLEAR AND CONVINCING EVIDENCE OF UNIMPEACHABLE CHARACTER.

Unimpeachable character is the cornerstone of the requirements for reinstatement. <u>The Florida Bar re Grusmark</u>, 662 So.2d 1235 (Fla. 1995); <u>The Florida Bar re Inglis</u>, 471 So.2d 38 (Fla. 1985). In order to be reinstated, the Petitioner must demonstrate unimpeachable character by clear and convincing evidence. <u>The Florida Bar re Timson</u>, 301 So.2d 448 (Fla. 1974). The Referee failed to give appropriate consideration to the Bar's testimony regarding conduct by the Petitioner demonstrating a lack of fundamental honesty. Although a referee's finding of fact must be accepted unless it is not supported by competent, substantial evidence, the Court's scope of review with regard to legal conclusions and recommendations is much broader because it is this Court's ultimate responsibility to enter an appropriate judgment. <u>Inglis</u> at 40.

## A. The Petitioner's Handling of Her Joint Checking Account.

During the period between April 16, 1993 and October 13, 1995, the Petitioner's joint checking account at Transatlantic Bank had overdrafts on fifty-four occasions.(T-103) During the same period, there were thirty-four dishonored checks written on

the account. (T-103) Although the records indicated that a majority of the checks were written by the Petitioner's husband, at least seven of the checks were written by the Petitioner. (T-103)

The Report of Referee erroneously states the Petitioner was not aware of her bank balance at the time the dishonored checks were written. (R.R. 5). However, there is no evidence in the record to support this finding. Under questioning by the referee, the Petitioner stated that she was not aware of her bank balance at the time that a check to her pediatrician was written in 1995.(T.181). The Petitioner did not present any evidence regarding her knowledge of her bank balance in regard to the other checks. Indeed, the Petitioner did not offer any explanation with regard to why the checks bounced. The Petitioner's only defense was that the checks were eventually made good.(T. 182)

This Court addressed the identical situation in <u>The Florida</u> <u>Bar v. Lopez</u>, 545 So.2d 835(Fla. 1989). In <u>Lopez</u>, *supra*, the Petitioner also had a high number of overdrafts and bounced checks in his checking account during his suspension. The Petitioner testified that he had an oral overdraft arrangement with his bank and that the checks were eventually made good. The

Referee accepted this explanation for the bounced checks. In this Court's opinion, the petitioner's explanation was not sufficient. In denying Lopez' Petition for Reinstatement, this Court held that "(r)outinely writing bad checks, even if eventually made good, burdens the recipients and is fundamentally dishonest. It brings disrepute on the writer and the profession. It is inconsistent with fitness to practice law." Lopez at 837.

In the instant case, the Petitioner's conduct similarly reflects a lack of fundamental honesty. Under questioning by the Petitioner's attorney, the Bar's auditor testified the number of bounced checks written by the Petitioner was a high amount. (T-107). Further, unlike Lopez, the petitioner did not present any explanation regarding her writing of the dishonored checks.

The Petitioner's handling of her joint checking account evidenced a lack of moral character and a lack of fitness to practice law. Furthermore, in light of the Petitioner's prior trust accounting difficulties, her behavior evidenced a lack of rehabilitation. The Petitioner's handling of her joint checking account demonstrated that she had not progressed in her understanding of her ethical responsibilities to the point where she may now be reposed with the public's trust.

In the case at bar, the Referee ignored the caselaw on this

issue when he considered the Bar's evidence regarding the Petitioner's handling of her checking account as character evidence. As the Lopez Court stated " (e)ven if this were a disciplinary proceeding against petitioner, it would be clear that he would be subject to suspension or other discipline. In the context of a petition for reinstatement, petitioner has completely failed to demonstrate his fitness to resume the practice of law. Lopez at 837. Therefore, under the Court's holding in Lopez, the Referee erred in finding that the Petitioner had demonstrated unimpeachable character.

## B. The Character Testimony From Other Members of the Bar

The Referee improperly held that the character testimony of Holly Moody was irrelevant and not probative to these proceedings. Rule 3-7.10(h)(1) provides that "... any interested person may appear before the referee in support of or in opposition to the petition." Therefore, the Referee should have considered Holly Moody's testimony regarding the petitioner's fitness to resume the practice of law.

Moreover, Moody's testimony went to the heart of this Court's rulings regarding the character required of a petitioner for reinstatement. This Court has held that a lack of moral character is not demonstrated only by acts of moral turpitude but

also "includes acts and conduct which would cause a reasonable man to have substantial doubts about an individual's honesty, fairness and respect for the rights of others and for the laws of the state and the nation." <u>The Florida Bar re Jahn</u>, 559 So.2d 1089(Fla. 1990).

In that regard, the character testimony of Holly Moody provided extensive evidence of the Petitioner's lack of moral character. Moody testified that the Petitioner took advantage of the "very trusting" members of the Calvary Church which had a small Black congregation. (T-114) Further, Moody testified that the Petitioner used bankruptcy proceedings to avoid payment of the attorney's fee award in the Calvary Church case. (T-115) The attorney's fees were not paid until 1995 despite the judgment and this Court's order of restitution in the suspension proceedings. As the only witness involved in litigation with the Petitioner as an attorney, Moody testified that the Petitioner's work as an attorney was incompetent and that she had to obtain a writ of bodily attachment in order to make the Petitioner and her husband appear at a deposition. (T-116) Moreover, Moody's assessment of the Petitioner's professional character was uncontroverted since none of the other character witnesses had ever litigated a case against the Petitioner as an attorney.

The character testimony of Holly Moody was relevant for the purpose of illustrating Petitioner's lack of moral character as evidenced by acts of incompetence, misrepresentation and abuse of the legal process and its participants.

## 11. THE REFEREE ERRONEOUSLY DISREGARDED EVIDENCE OF PRESUSPENSION BEHAVIOR

The Referee erroneously found the testimony regarding the Petitioner's presuspension conduct was irrelevant in these proceedings. (R.R. p.4). This Court has consistently held that presuspension behavior is relevant and probative to the Petitioner's fitness to resume the practice of law. The Florida Bar v. Lopez, 545 So.2d 835(Fla. 1989) (Evidence concerning presuspension behavior is relevant and admissible.); The Florida Bar v. Wolf, 257 So.2d 547(Fla. 1972) (Petitioner's disciplinary history including nature of offenses, gravity and similarity relevant in reinstatement proceedings); The Florida Bar v. Rubin, 323 So.2d 257 (Fla. 1975) (Referee should consider evidence regarding prior conduct for, among other things, comparing past and prior conduct.) In order to determine whether a petitioner has been rehabilitated, it is necessary to examine her present conduct against the conduct which led to the suspension. Otherwise, there is no need for a rehabilitative suspension.

The instant case demonstrates why the facts regarding the underlying suspension should be considered in a reinstatement proceeding. The Petitioner's handling of her joint checking account during her suspension mirrored the problems which led to the initial suspension. As the Bar's witnesses and exhibits illustrate, the Petitioner was suspended as a result of serious competency and trust accounting problems. Without an understanding of the problems which led to the suspension, the Referee could not evaluate whether the Petitioner was sufficiently rehabilitated to resume the practice of law. Lopez at 836.

The Petitioner was suspended as a result of a four count complaint. Three counts of the complaint involved the Petitioner's actions as a closing agent for B and B Mortgage Equity. (Appendix #3.) B and B Mortgage Equity was a mortgage brokerage business owned by the Petitioner's husband, Barry Yanks. In June, 1988, Charles Friedberg applied to B and B for help obtaining a mortgage loan. Friedberg made a Twenty-Five Hundred Dollar (\$2,500) application deposit which was placed in the Petitioner's escrow account. (T-160) Six weeks later, Friedberg withdrew his application and requested a refund of the twenty-five hundred dollars (\$2500). The Petitioner refused to

refund the money on the grounds that the deposit was nonrefundable. An audit of the Petitioner's trust account revealed that the funds were no longer in her trust account at the time that Friedberg was requesting a refund. (Appendix #3) The audit also revealed that the Petitioner had used the funds to pay personal expenses unrelated to the Friedberg loan. (Appendix #3)

The Petitioner also served as an escrow agent For Chapel of God In Christ Calvary ("Calvary") Church. Calvary approached the Petitioner's husband for help in obtaining a mortgage for a larger church. (Final Order p. 11) In order to prove Calvary's creditworthiness, the Petitioner's husband requested a cash deposit in his escrow account. Calvary made one deposit of Ten Thousand Dollars (\$10,000) which was placed in B and B Mortgage Equity's account and another deposit of Fourteen Thousand Dollars (\$14,000) which was placed in the Petitioner's trust account. (Final Order p. 14,16) Subsequently, Calvary failed to close on the property and requested a refund of the monies held in escrow. When the funds were not returned, Calvary filed suit against the Petitioner and her husband. Subsequent to the filing of the suit but prior to trial, the Petitioner forwarded a \$14,000 check to Calvary which stated that it was an accord and satisfaction for the entire amount owed to the church. (T-113) When Calvary

refused to accept the check on those terms, the Petitioner stated that the funds were being deposited in the Court registry. (T-114) However, the funds were never deposited in the Court Registry. A final judgment was eventually entered for the church and the Respondent was ordered to make full restitution. (T-113)

The Petitioner also served as a closing agent in the sale of a condominium from Ana Vasquez to Pura Castillo. The condominium was encumbered by a first mortgage held by Standard Federal Savings.(T-130) At the closing, the Petitioner represented all parties in the transaction.(Final Order p. 26) The Petitioner knew or should have known that the mortgage documents constituted an inferior wrap-around mortgage despite the fact that the documents claimed to transfer fee simple title to the property.(Final Order p.29) Moreover, the closing statement contained several fraudulent charges. (Final Order p. 32,33)

The reinstatement proceeding is designed to examine a Petitioner's conduct during the period of suspension. In order to make such an examination, the Referee must consider the facts which led to the suspension. There is no point of reference to make a determination of whether rehabilitation has occurred absent an understanding of the conduct which led to the suspension. If the Referee had properly considered the evidence

regarding the Petitioner's presuspension behavior and the public harm it caused, he could not have concluded that the Petitioner had demonstrated sufficient character and competency rehabilitation to resume the practice of law.

# III. <u>THE PETITIONER FAILED TO PRESENT CLEAR AND</u> <u>CONVINCING EVIDENCE OF A REPUTATION FOR GOOD</u> <u>PROFESSIONAL ABILITY</u>

The Referee erroneously found that the Petitioner had presented clear and convincing evidence of a reputation for good professional ability. In a reinstatement proceeding, the Petitioner has to demonstrate clear and convincing evidence of professional competence to resume the practice of law. The Florida Bar re Davis, 397 So.2d 690 (Fla. 1981); The Florida Bar v. Grusmark, 662 So.2d 1235 (Fla. 1995); The Florida Bar v. Timson, 301 So.2d 448 (Fla. 1974) and In Re Wolf, 257 So.2d 547 (Fla. 1972). The record contains numerous examples of the Petitioner's competency problems in trust accounting and real estate transactions. Further, the majority of the Petitioner's witnesses could not testify to her professional competence as an attorney. Therefore, the Referee improperly held that the Petitioner had demonstrated evidence of a reputation for good professional ability.

In Wolf, supra, the Petitioner presented prominent character

witnesses during his reinstatement hearing. However, the witnesses did not have any direct knowledge regarding the Petitioner's competence as an attorney. The Court found Wolf did not satisfy his burden of proving a reputation for good professional ability and denied his petition for reinstatement. Id at 549.

Similarly, the Petitioner did not meet her burden to demonstrate that she was competent to resume the practice of law. Three of the witnesses presented by the Petitioner, Andrew Parrish, Leonard Gorman and Murray Dubbin stated they had no knowledge of the Petitioner's competency as an attorney. (T. 27,29,81,100). These three witnesses had never worked with the Petitioner as an attorney on a case or had any knowledge regarding her professional reputation as an attorney. Only one of the Petitioner's witnesses, Martha Block, had ever worked with the Petitioner on a case. However her interaction with the Petitioner on the case was "limited" and she had no other knowledge of the Petitioner's competence as an attorney. (T. 149). Block also testified that she was not aware of the specifics of the problems which led to the Petitioner's suspension. (T. 149)

In contrast, the Bar presented extensive evidence that the Petitioner lacked the competency to practice law. Subsequent to the Petitioner's suspension, the Petitioner and her husband were the subject of administrative proceedings by the Department of Banking and Finance regarding the Castillo mortgage transaction and the Calvary Church transaction which were the subject of the original suspension proceedings.

The Department of Banking and Finance found that the Petitioner's handling of the transaction violated Florida Statute \$494.055(1)(b) which governs fraud, misrepresentation, deceit, negligence and incompetence in a mortgage transaction. Further, the Department of Banking and Finance Order barred the Petitioner for life from participating in any activity within the jurisdiction of the department under the statute. (T. 166) (Final Order p. 38, 43)

The Bar also introduced into evidence a letter of advice from disciplinary proceedings which took place in 1994. Although the committee found the Petitioner's conduct did not rise to the level of a violation, the Committee found the Petitioner's " total lack of formal bookkeeping, the lack of a written retainer agreement and sloppy record keeping" were matters of grave concern. (Appendix #4). The Committee also recommended that the Petitioner take a formal accounting course.

However, the Petitioner did not take a formal accounting

course or any type of course work to address her persistent trust accounting problems. The Petitioner did not work with an accountant or a law office management service to address her trust accounting problems. Indeed as the petitioner herself admitted, she did not take any steps to become proficient in trust accounting .(T-176) Therefore, the Referee erred in finding that the petitioner was rehabilitated and had demonstrated the professional competence to resume the practice of law.

Furthermore, the Petitioner did not take any specific steps to address the other competency problems which led to her suspension(T-176)). The Petitioner did not take any course work related to real property transactions. As the Bar's expert witness testified, at a minimum, a person with the Petitioner's deficiencies would need several basic real estate courses to become competent.(T-138) In response, the Petitioner stated that she would not handle real estate transactions or have a trust account. This is insufficient to prove rehabilitation. In cases where competence is at issue, the Petitioner in a rehabilitative suspension, must demonstrate that she has taken concrete steps to correct her deficiencies. <u>Wolf</u> at 348. Generally, rehabilitation for a petitioner under these

at 450.

The Petitioner essentially argued that she was rehabilitated because she had served her term of suspension. The caselaw is unequivocal that this is insufficient to prove rehabilitation. Rubin at 258 ; Timson at 450; Wolf at 548. Recitations of contrition and the intent to behave in a more appropriate manner in the future are insufficient to prove rehabilitation. If that was all that was required, there would be no need for a rehabilitative suspension. The Petitioner must demonstrate, through her actions, that she appreciates the seriousness of her misconduct and that she has taken the appropriate steps to address the underlying problems which led to her suspension. Rubin at 258. Despite her suspension and the Banking and Finance Order, by her own admission, the Petitioner has taken no steps to address her competency problems. (T- 176)) Despite being disciplined twice for trust accounting problems and receiving a letter of advice, the Petitioner, by her own admission, has not taken any specific steps to address her trust accounting problems. (T-176)

In light of the fact that the Petitioner failed to present any evidence of her professional competence as an attorney or document any specific steps taken to address the competency

problems which led to her suspension, the Referee erred in finding the Petitioner had demonstrated a reputation for good professional ability.

#### CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, The Referee's recommendation is erroneous and the Petitioner should not be reinstated to the practice of law. Furthermore, prior to being reinstated, the Petitioner should take specific steps to address the competency and trust account issues which led to her suspension.

ELENA EVANS Bar Counsel TFB No. 826359 The Florida Bar, 444 Brickell Avenue Suite M-100 Miami, Florida 33131 Tel: (305) 377-4445

JOHN F. HARKNESS, JR. Executive Director TFB No. 123390 The Florida Bar 650 Apalachee Parkway Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 Tel: (904) 561-5600

JOHN T. BERRY Staff Counsel TFB No. 217395 The Florida Bar 650 Apalachee Parkway Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 Tel: (904) 561-5600