IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

v.

ANA HERNANDEZ-YANKS

Respondent.

Supreme Court Case No. 86,337

FI CLERK, SUPALIST COURT Clifted Brogerty Chark

5/16

### RESPONDENT, ANA HERNANDEZ-YANKS' ANSWER BRIEF

ON PETITION FOR REVIEW

MURRAY P. YANKS, ESQUIRE Attorney for Respondent/ Appellee 19 West Flagler Street Suite 401 Miami, Florida 33130

#

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

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Referee correctly concluded and recommended that Petitioner be reinstated as a member in good standing as Petitioner had strictly complied with all the conditions of the order of suspension and proven by clear and convincing evidence that she is of good moral character and competent and fit to resume the practice of law. In the instant case, all of the Referee's findings

are supported by clear and convincing evidence, and the report should therefore be upheld.

Specifically, Petitioner proved by clear and convincing evidence through her witnesses that she is of good moral character, has personal integrity and is competent and fit to practice law. Petitioner presented evidence that she was competent at the time of her suspension and Petitioner testified that she has kept current in the law through her research, reading law weekly and listening to seminars on tape. Petitioner, thus proved that she is competent to practice law.

Finally, the Referee did not err in finding the testimony, as presented by Bar Counsel, of Holly Moody, was not relevant and probative. The Referee admitted the testimony of Holly Moody for the purpose of comparing prior and current conduct, but rejected same as proof that petitioner is not competent to practice law.

The Report of the Referee should be upheld since there is competent evidence to support it, and the Bar cannot meet its burden of proving that the report is erroneous, unlawful or unjustified. Accordingly, the report should be affirmed and Petitioner reinstated to membership in good standing with the conditions imposed by the Referee.

#### ARGUMENT

### Ī

### THE REFEREE CORRECTLY FOUND THAT PETITIONER HAD PROVEN BY CLEAR AND CONVINCING EVIDENCE THAT SHE IS OF GOOD MORAL CHARACTER

The referee found that Petitioner proved by clear and

convincing evidence that she is rehabilitated, has complied with all the conditions imposed by the suspension order, including restitution, has unimpeachable character, is competent to resume the practice of law, has no malice and/or ill feelings toward those involved in the disciplinary proceeding, expressed a sincere sense of repentance and desire to conduct practice in exemplary fashion in the future. (T-158, 160-161). In support of these findings, Petitioner presented the testimony of four practicing attorneys who have dealt with the Petitioner during the past three years. One witness, Attorney Murray Dubbin, has been an attorney for 45 years and a former member of the ethics committee, and is currently the City Attorney for Miami Beach. He testified that Petitioner is of good moral character, has personal integrity, is fit for a position of trust and confidence, and is competent to practice law. (T- 87-89). Lenard Gorman, an attorney for 19 years, and Petitioner's employer also testified that she is of good moral character and personal integrity, is fit for a position of trust and confidence and, is competent to practice law. (T-76-77).

Andrew M. Parish, an attorney for 16 years, and Petitioner's employer also testified that she is of good moral character, has personal integrity, is fit for a position of trust and confidence and, is competent to practice law. (T-93-95).

Petitioner also presented the testimony of Martha Block, Esquire, an attorney for 5 years, who knew Petitioner prior to her suspension, handled cases with Petitioner prior to her suspension, and worked with the Petitioner during her suspension. She

testified that Petitioner was of good moral character, had personal integrity, was fit for a position of trust and confidence and was competent to practice law. (T-145, 146, 147-149).

A Referee's findings of facts enjoys the same presumption of correctness as the judgment of the trier of fact in a civil proceeding and the burden is on the party seeking review to demonstrate that a report of a referee sought to be reviewed is erroneous, unlawful or unjustified. <u>The Florida Bar vs. Inglis,</u> 471 So.2d 38 (Fla. 1985). A Referee's findings of facts carry a presumption of correctness that should be upheld unless clearly erroneous or without support in the record. <u>The Florida Bar vs.</u> <u>Janssen</u>, 643 So.2d 1065 (Fla. 1994). The referee's report herein is correct, and supported by competent substantial evidence and should be upheld.

The Bar argues that the Referee's report is erroneous, and the testimony of the witnesses that Petitioner is of good moral character should be ignored and disregarded because in a period of three years, Petitioner wrote five (5) checks, on a joint checking account that were returned by the Bank. Petitioner testified that all the checks were subsequently paid. (T-190).

In support of its contention that this evidence is clear and convincing proof that Petitioner does not have good moral character the Bar relies upon the case of <u>The Florida Bar vs. Lopez</u>, 545 So.2d 835 (Fla. 1989). The instant case is factually dissimilar and distinguishable from <u>Lopez</u>, supra. Firstly, the Petitioner in <u>Lopez</u> had been suspended twice and was seeking reinstatement therefrom.

The first suspension involved jury tampering, and the second suspension involved a conviction of 22 felony counts in Federal District Court. Additionally, Lopez withheld material information on his petition for reinstatement, had <u>routinely</u> written dishonored checks, forty-eight (48) in a period of two years, failed to file corporate income tax returns and failed to disclose an arrest for extortion. For all these reasons, this court held that Petitioner had failed to demonstrate his fitness to resume the practice of law. In discussing the bad checks, this court stated that "routinely writing bad checks, even if eventually made good, burdens the recipients and is fundamentally dishonest."

However, in the instant case, Petitioner did not routinely write bad checks, and the largest one was to her employer, the Dubbin law firm in the amount of \$365.51 for health insurance. (T-106). Dubbin testified in favor of Petitioner. This fact alone is not a sufficient basis to ignore and outweigh the overwhelming evidence of Petitioner's good moral character, and reverse the referee's findings.

This Court recently approved a referee's report and granted reinstatement in a case where the Bar opposed it although the court had some trepidation. <u>The Florida Bar v. Rue</u>, 663 So.2d 1321 (Fla. 1995). This Court stated "while the Bar's contention are not entirely without merit, we do not agree that they warrant overturning the referee's findings and further prolonging these proceedings, his actions are nonetheless troubling." Upon review of the record in <u>Rue</u>, supra., this Court found the decision of the

referee supported by competent substantial evidence and upheld it despite some apprehension.

In The Florida Bar vs. Jahn, 559 So.2d 1089 (Fla. 1990) this court stated that finding lack of good moral character is not restricted to acts reflecting moral turpitude, but includes acts of conduct which would cause a reasonable man to have substantial doubts about an individual's honesty, fairness and respect for the rights of others and for the laws of the state and nation. Clearly, the record does not support such a finding of Petitioner's moral character. The Bar has failed to meet its burden to demonstrate that the referee's conclusions and recommendations are erroneous, unlawful and unjustified. This court should uphold the recommendations of the Referee.

#### THE REFEREE CORRECTLY CONCLUDED THAT PETITIONER PROVED BY CLEAR AND CONVINCING EVIDENCE THAT SHE IS COMPETENT TO PRACTICE LAW

The Referee correctly concluded that Petitioner had proved by clear and convincing evidence that she is competent to practice law. In support of this condition, Petitioner presented evidence from Martha Block, an attorney who had worked with Petitioner prior to her suspension. (T-145-47, 149). Ms. Block testified that Petitioner was competent to practice law. Ms. Block also testified that she was aware that her boss, then a United States Trustee, now a bankruptcy court judge, thought highly of the Petitioner. (T-151). Additionally, Petitioner's employers, Murray Dubbin, Lenard H. Gorman and Andrew M. Parish, all testified that they thought Petitioner is competent to practice law. There is ample evidence to support the Referee's conclusion that Petitioner is competent to practice law. The Referee's findings on that issue should be accepted by this court as they are supported by competent evidence. In re Jahn, supra.

The Bar contends that Petitioner has not proven that she is competent to practice law because she has not attended any seminars on trust accounting and real estate. Petitioner testified that she does not intend to have a trust account or practice in the area of real estate. (T-161). Additionally, Petitioner has agreed to all the conditions imposed by the Referee, including that she take 30 hours of CLE cre0dit in real estate prior to handling any real

estate matters, submit quarterly reports to the Bar regarding trust accounts, and attend within one year of readmission the Professional Practice and Enhancement Program.

The Bar also contends that the Referee should have been persuaded by Holly Moody's testimony that in her opinion Petitioner is not competent. Ms. Moody admitted that her opinion was based on the former transaction and from what she had heard with regard to another transaction. (T-118). The referee gave her testimony the weight he felt it should be given as the trier of fact.

#### III.

#### THE REFEREE DID NOT ERR IN ALLOWING PRESUSPENSION EVIDENCE FOR PURPOSES OF COMPARING PRIOR AND CURRENT CONDUCT

The Bar contends that the Referee erred in not considering evidence of Holly Moody to evaluate the Petitioner's conduct that led to the suspension. This court has repeatedly held that it is proper for the referee to consider a petitioner's past disciplinary record for the purpose of comparing prior and current conduct. The <u>Florida Bar vs. Rubin</u>, 323 So.2d 257 (Fla. 1975). In the instant case, the Referee allowed the evidence in, for the purpose of comparing prior and current conduct. (T-3,4). Therefore, the referee did not commit any error. The fact that the Referee did not find the evidence persuasive and controlling, does not amount to an error.

In the instant case, Petitioner met her burden of establishing good moral character, fitness to practice law and rehabilitation. She has been suspended longer than the original period of

suspension, and has not engaged in any misconduct since the incidents occurred, eight years ago. "While this alone is not dispositive of whether [petitioner] should be readmitted, it is a significant factor for this Court to consider". <u>Florida Board of</u> <u>Bar Examiners re: P.T.R.</u>, 662 So.2d 334 (Fla. 1995). The Bar has failed to carry its burden and show the Referee's findings are not supported by the record and that the recommendations are erroneous, unjustified and unlawful.

Finally, as this court noted in <u>The Florida Bar vs. Burton</u>, 218 So.2d 748 (Fla. 1969), it is important that offending members who rehabilitate themselves are given an opportunity to return to their profession. This Petitioner should have that opportunity.

#### CONCLUSIONS

The Referee's Findings of Fact and Recommendations are correct and based on competent evidence, and the Report of the Referee should be accepted by this court. The fact that the Bar does not agree with the decision of the Referee does not render the report and recommendations erroneous, unlawful and unjustified. Since the Bar has failed to carry its burden, the Report and Recommendations should be upheld.

MURRAY P. YANKS, ESQUIRE Attorney for Respondent/ Appellee 19 West Flagler Street Suite 401 Miami, Florida 33130 By Murray P. Yanks, Esq. Florida Bar No. 149870